Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

____April 20, 2023_____

Miho Ujiie

The association between acculturation and parent-child communication about sexual and reproductive health in Vietnamese families in the U.S.

By

Miho Ujiie

Master of Public Health Hubert Department of Global Health

Cari Jo Clark

Committee Chair

Anna Newton-Levinson

Committee Member

Ha Ngan (Milkie) Vu

Committee Member

The association between acculturation and parent-child communication about sexual and reproductive health in Vietnamese families in the U.S.

By

Miho Ujiie Bachelor of Science in Nursing Kitasato University 2015

Thesis Committee Chair: Cari Jo Clark, ScD, MPH

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Global Health

2023

Abstract

The association between acculturation and parent-child communication about sexual and reproductive health in Vietnamese families in the U.S.

By

Miho Ujiie

Objective. Cultural taboos and gender norms around sexual and reproductive health (SRH) in Vietnamese culture significantly impact SRH communication. This thesis aims to understand how acculturation affects parent-child conversations about SRH topics among U.S. Vietnamese families.

Methods. A secondary data analysis was conducted by using a cross-sectional online survey designed to assess adolescent HPV vaccination status. A sample of 326 mothers and 67 fathers who have children aged between 9 to 18 were included. Acculturation was measured using the Asian American Multidimensional Acculturation Scale as well as the participants' duration of stay in the U.S. Frequency of SRH communication was measured using the Dutch Health Behavior in School-Aged Children and Parent-Teen Sexual Risk Communication Scale which assessed 7 topic areas including birth control, contraceptives, or condoms, STDs, HIV, pregnancy, postponing or resisting pressure to have sex, being in love and having a romantic relationship, and physical changes during puberty. Bivariate analyses across each of the 7 SRH-related topics were conducted, followed by multivariate models adjusting for parent's gender and educational attainment, child's age, gender, and country of birth.

Results. The least spoken about SRH topic was postponing having sex with 54.2% of parents not discussing this topic, followed by STDs (48.4%) and contraception (47.6%) compared to less avoided topics, such as physical change during puberty (12.7%) and having a romantic relationship (22.9%). Greater American acculturation was associated with a greater likelihood of parents having talked about all 7 SRH topics than those with lower acculturation. However, there was no statistical association between Vietnamese acculturation and SRH communication. Interestingly, parents who have lived in the U.S. for less time talked about some SRH topics more frequently. Higher parental education and the child being female was associated with a greater likelihood that the parent had spoken to the child about pregnancy. Other important factors associated with frequency of communication of SRH topics were gender of parent and age of child.

Conclusion. Acculturation plays a role in parent-child communication of SRH topics. SRH parent-child communication should be complemented by culturally competent healthcare to support the health of U.S. Vietnamese youth.

The association between acculturation and parent-child communication about sexual and reproductive health in Vietnamese families in the U.S.

By

Miho Ujiie Bachelor of Science in Nursing Kitasato University 2015

Thesis Committee Chair: Cari Jo Clark, ScD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Global Health

2023

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Dr. Cari Jo Clark and Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson from the Hubert Department of Global Health, Emory University, and Dr. Milkie Vu from the Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University. Dr. Cari Jo Clark, I sincerely appreciate your entire support including technical research skills throughout the overall project. Dr. Anna Newton-Levinson, thank you very much for your significant insight into sexual and reproductive health. Dr. Milkie Vu, thank you for allowing me to access data on lived experiences among U.S. Vietnamese families that you have collected, which made me understand diverse cultural insights and their needs around sexual and reproductive health in public health. Also, many thanks to my family and friends for always supporting me. Thank you again for all the greatest research assistance and support throughout the research project.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Context1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Statement of purpose5
Chapter 2: Comprehensive Review of Literature
2.1 Asian American populations and Vietnamese populations in the U.S
2.2 SRH among Asian American adolescents7
2.3 Asian Culture and SRH among Asian Americans
2.4 Parent Child Communication about SRH11
2.4.1 Importance and impact of parent-child communications about SRH in general11
2.4.2 Varied effects of parent-child communication across different race/ethnicity groups11
2.4.3 Differences in gender
2.5 Acculturation14
2.5.1 Introduction about acculturation and how it influences health behaviors
2.5.2 Acculturation and SRH communication15
2.5.3 Potential influences of acculturation on Asian American parent-child SRH
communication15

2.6 Rationale and identified gaps in scientific literature
Chapter 3: Methods and Results
3.1 Methods17
3.1.1 Sample17
3.1.2 Measurements
3.1.3 Statistical Analysis22
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Description of the sample22
3.2.2 Description of the outcome and primary predictors
3.2.3 Relationship between acculturation and SRH communication
Chapter 4: Discussion, Limitations & Recommendations, and Conclusions
4.1 Discussion
4.1.1 Acculturation and SRH parent-child communication
4.1.2 Other demographic characteristics associated with SRH communication
4.2 Limitations
4.3 Recommendations
4.4 Conclusions
Footnote

References	
Appendix	

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Context

Parent-child communication is essential to the prevention of adverse SRH outcomes and behaviors among youth (Kim, 2020). However, Asian American adolescents may face barriers to conversations related to SRH with their families that can emanate from cultural taboos (Lee et al., 2015; Okazaki, 2002). This is a concern because experiences in adolescence impact adulthood. For instance, literature shows that Asian women in the U.S. do not have sufficient knowledge about reproductive health in comparison to their White counterparts (abbreviated as Whites hereafter) and might be at risk of negative SRH outcomes (Fowler et al., 2023). Also, Asian Americans are at an increased risk of STDs/HIV and have lower access to SRH services (CDC, 2022; Kao, 2006) compared to other racial groups in the U.S. There is a higher risk of unintended pregnancy among Asian American adolescent as well as women due to adverse life experiences than African Americans and Whites (Hall et al., 2019). Therefore, studying parentchild communication related to SRH among Asian American youth is important.

Contrarily, some studies find that there is no association between parent-child communication around SRH and sexual health outcomes among Asian American youth, despite a positive association among White counterparts (Lam et al., 2008). These findings are at odds with research that does find an association and warrants further study. One reason for a lack of association may be the use of aggregated Asian American categories in the study population without accounting for unique cultural aspects. Thus, it is necessary to disaggregate Asian American subgroups to elucidate the actual circumstance of parent-child communication to prevent negative SRH outcomes. U.S. Vietnamese are under-represented in research aiming to disentangle the relationship between parent-child communication and SRH outcomes among youth. For instance, while there are several documented negative SRH outcomes among Asian Americans, few studies specifically address SRH among U.S. Vietnamese¹. This lack of research is a concern because the studies that have focused on U.S. Vietnamese found that there are overall health disparities among Vietnamese immigrants in the U.S., especially they pertain to lower educational attainment (Ahmmad et al., 2021). Further research is needed to specifically understand SRH disparities among U.S. Vietnamese youth.

An important aspect of understanding SRH outcomes among U.S. Vietnamese families is their acculturation. Acculturation is generally assessed using cultural measurements of behavior, identity, and knowledge as measures between original and host cultures (Chung et al., 2004; McCullough Cosgrove et al., 2018). Specifically, acculturation is associated with sexual communication and can drive SRH outcomes among the immigrant population including U.S. Vietnamese (Kim et al., 2020). A previous study about Asian Americans showed that children whose parents are more acculturated in the U.S. are more likely to have better sexual health communication (Kim & Ward, 2007). Nevertheless, the effect of acculturation can lead to both negative and positive SRH outcomes. For example, there was a likelihood of being at risk of sexual health among more acculturated female youth in American culture than those less acculturated (Hahm et al., 2006; Tong, 2013). This can be because the impact of acculturation on SRH communication and health outcomes varies by how much people are adapted to the cultural contexts (Kim et al., 2020). As an initial step, it is necessary to understand how acculturation affects conversations about SRH to prevent undesirable health consequences among U.S. Vietnamese families.

1.2 Statement of the problem

The U.S. Vietnamese population has been rising since 1975 (Batalova, 2021), aligned with a similar increase in the wider Asian population over time (*The Office of Minority Health*, 2021). The population of Asian Americans is expected to double in about 40 years (Budiman & Ruiz, 2021) and currently accounts for 5.7 % of the entire population in the U.S. (*The Office of Minority Health*, 2021). U.S. Vietnamese are currently the fourth largest subgroup and comprise approximately 2.8 % of immigrants to the U.S. (Migration Policy Institute, 2020; United States Census Bureau, 2020). U.S. Vietnamese are also more likely to lack medical insurance compared to other Asian groups (Carrasquillo et al., 2000), and their education level was also lower than other immigrants and U.S.-born counterparts (Batalova, 2021). Both risk factors could affect poorer SRH and wellbeing.

Vietnamese culture around SRH leaves a significant impact due to existing gender norms that hinder sexual activity among unmarried Vietnamese women (Nguyen & Liamputtong, 2007). These gender norms also prevent them from accessing sexual health, such as family planning services (Nguyen & Liamputtong, 2007). The impact of sexual health communication between parents and children can also vary according to gender differences. For instance, other than general populations, mothers were not willing to talk about sexual health with girls than with boys in a sample of Chinese representing Asian Americans (McNeely et al., 2002; Gillmore et al., 2011). Although the importance of parental communication associated with adolescent decision-making in sexual health has already been recognized, fewer studies have addressed communication between a father and a child compared with maternal interaction (Commendador, 2010; Flores, D., & Barroso, J., 2017; Hutchinson, 2007).

There may be differences in perspective of acculturation between mainstream culture and the parental culture as they apply to U.S. Vietnamese families. Asian American families who follow Asian culture are conservative about sexuality, whereas more acculturated youth inside the U.S. are more sexually active (Tong, 2013). The needs of receiving SRH information among Asian youth should be addressed by filling a gap between their challenges and desire (Frost et al., 2016). However, many studies have not fully accounted for the impact of acculturation due to limited research in this population.

Also, studies specifically in the U.S. context do not always include Asian participants even though there are noted racial disparities in SRH between diverse racial and ethnic subgroups (Szucs et al., 2020). Even within Asian countries, there are heterogeneities between Asian subgroups (Kim & Ward, 2007). To accurately understand the cultural impact on parent-child sexual health communication, it is important to disaggregate subgroups from large racial groups, such as Chinese and Korean (Gillmore et al., 2011). A study about Filipino Americans showed a significant association between acculturation and frequency of parent-child communication about sexual behavior impacted by the gap in Asian cultural values between parents and children (Chung et al., 2007), but there are no studies focusing on Vietnamese families living in the U.S. Since many studies tended to only use survey tools in English, it restricted participation to those were English proficiency. We used the survey data collected in both Vietnamese and English to understand the pattern of SRH communication between parents and their children. Action is required toward a more culturally appropriate approach for parent-child communication about SRH. Hence, it is necessary to identify potential underlying mechanisms that explain the prevalence of communication, accounting for acculturation among Vietnamese families in the U.S.

1.3 State of purpose

This study aims to:

1. describe the frequency of and factors associated with parent-child communication about SRH among U.S. Vietnamese families.

2. assess the association between acculturation on SRH communication, simultaneously accounting for demographic features.

The hypothesis is that more acculturated parents in the U.S. context are more likely to talk with children about SRH. Ultimately, there is a need to understand the actual SRH parent-child communication by taking acculturation into account to avoid the risk of adverse SRH outcomes and sexual behaviors among Vietnamese youth in the U.S. Understanding how acculturation influences communication will help guide culturally appropriate research and interventions.

Chapter 2: Comprehensive Review of Literature

2.1 Asian American populations and Vietnamese populations in the U.S.

There is limited research and data focused on U.S. Vietnamese. Thus, there is a need to more accurately capture the health disparities that they may face. Asian Americans are currently the fastest-growing population in the U.S. compared to other racial and ethnic groups. However, Asian Americans are recognized as an understudied racial category in health disparity research (*The Office of Minority Health*, 2021). The population of Asian Americans is expected to double in about 40 years (Budiman & Ruiz, 2021) and currently accounts for 5.7 % of the entire population in the U.S. (*The Office of Minority Health*, 2021). U.S. Vietnamese alone comprise approximately 2.8 % of immigrants to the U.S. (1,403,000/50,633,000) and are the fourth largest subgroup among Asian populations (Migration Policy Institute, 2020; United States Census Bureau, 2020). However, U.S. Vietnamese are still considered newer immigrants compared to Chinese and Korean (Carreon & Baumeister, 2015). That can be a possible reason why the number of studies focusing on the Vietnamese population in the U.S. is still less than other Asian subgroups.

Since unfavorable social determinants of health (SDH) can be a key factor associated with adverse health status. Compared with non-Hispanic Whites even living in the same geographical locations, Asian Americans more frequently experience health disparities (Spoer et al., 2021). Sociodemographic factors associated with access to healthcare and health consequences are an important aspect among Asian Americans including Vietnamese populations. Parents' educational attainment plays a positive role in adolescents' sexual behaviors specifically at adolescent age and late 20s (Cheshire et al., 2019). On the other hand, low socioeconomic status influences immigrant families' ability to access health services and ultimately results in inequitable health outcomes (Chang, 2019).

Healthcare access and health outcomes are also affected by English language proficiency among immigrants (Pandey et al., 2021). Regarding language proficiency among Asian Americans, data show that over 70 % of them spoke other languages in households except for English even though more than half of Asian Americans (55.5%) in comparison to the total non-Hispanic Whites (36.9%) had received at least a bachelor's degree in 2019 (*The Office of Minority Health*, 2021). Especially, Vietnamese immigrants were less likely to speak English at home compared to all the immigrants, and their education level was also lower than other immigrants and U.S.-born adults (Batalova, 2021). Also, U.S. Vietnamese were likely to lack insurance compared to other Asian immigrants due to the factors of age and income level (Carrasquillo et al., 2000). SRH disadvantages were impacted by lower educational attainment rather than income level among Vietnamese immigrants (Ahmmad et al., 2021). Those underlined sociodemographic components should be simultaneously considered when addressing health disparity.

2.2 SRH among Asian American adolescents

Asian Americans are less likely to experience romantic relationships than their counterparts (Lefkowitz et al., 2018), and have lower rates of most sexually transmitted diseases (STDs). However, they have higher rates of congenital syphilis and are less likely to receive and continue care for HIV and other STDs (CDC, 2021b). Additionally, the rate of Asian Americans who received healthcare among those diagnosed with HIV was lower than Whites (CDC, 2022). Asian Americans did not acknowledge being at risk for STDs, hence, did not receive SRH services (Kao, 2006). The fact surrounding Asian Americans should not be negligible.

Generally, unintended pregnancies were more likely to occur among girls before the age of 15 involuntarily experiencing the first intercourse than those over 18 years old (Aztlan-James et al., 2017). The prevalence of contraceptive use differed in gender and age, also the actual contraceptive effects are not accurately understood by adolescents in the general population (Szucs et al., 2020). In the U.S., the primary contraceptive method for adolescents was condom use, however, racial disparities disproportionately impact equal access to the contraceptive method among U.S. youth (Szucs et al., 2020; Vargas et al., 2017). Also, the overall teen birth rate in the United States has declined in recent decades; however, the rate of decline has been slower among Asian teens compared to other racial and ethnic groups (Hamilton & Mathews, 2016; CDC, 2021a). Furthermore, Asian adolescent females who speak English at home have more sexual experiences no matter where they were born (Hahm et al., 2006). Fewer Asian adolescents consistently use a contraceptive method once they are sexually active compared to other youth counterparts (Ansari-Thomas et al., 2020). This may be tied to South Asian American women' unwillingness to talk about contraception, the limited choices of contraceptive methods, and misconceptions about the effects of these methods (Farid et al., 2013). Also, that could be reflected by Asian American youth commonly portraying conservative attitudes in sexuality and sexual behavior compared to other races or ethnicities (Okazaki, 2002).

The gap between Asian cultural influences and the actual need of Asian American youth exists. Compared to different racial counterparts, Lee et al. (2015) found that Asian American adolescents received limited information and knowledge about sex, STDs, and HIV due to

cultural influence. However, using aggregated subgroups does not make a clear difference in contraceptive use and attitudes between racial subgroups makes challenging to capture the actual barriers that U.S. Vietnamese have faced.

2.3 Asian Culture and SRH among Asian Americans

Discussions around sexuality and sexual health are considered taboo in most Asian cultures even within families (Lee et al., 2015; Okazaki, 2002). Thus, talking about SRH is a challenge for both Asian immigrant parents and their adolescent children. Cultural values within Asian communities may negatively impact attitudes, ideas, and behaviors regarding SRH in comparison to other racial groups (Okazaki, 2002). Also, families who prioritize religion conveyed more prohibitive messages to children in conversations about sexual health (Kim & Ward, 2007). Loyalty to family members also plays a role in what health behaviors are taken (Okazaki, 2002).

Asian cultural values and stigma adversely impact receiving SRH-related information that is generally available in the U.S. context. The theme of sexual health incorporated with the perspective of bicultural adaptation and established identities has not been studied as much as general sexual health topics (Kao et al., 2007). For instance, mothers without adequate knowledge about sex-related issues do not openly talk with their adolescent daughters due to the taboo, they also expect that their daughters can learn outside the home (Farid et al., 2013). The stigma around HIV exists in Asian culture (Chin & Kroesen, 1999), which can potentially influence obtaining knowledge about SRH. On the contrary, Asian American adolescents desired to receive information related to abstinence and contraceptive methods, and STDs (Frost et al., 2016). As a result, most Asian American adolescents are inclined to receive information about sexual health from others outside of the family (Zhao et al., 2017). Further, a lack of confidentiality and bias from healthcare providers results in mistrust and impedes open communication about sexual health prevention among Asian American adolescents (Jahn et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2017).

U.S. Vietnamese youth is no exception. Specifically, Vietnamese culture around SRH leaves a significant impact. Due to existing gender norms that hinder sexual activity among unmarried Vietnamese women, the normative idea in Vietnamese culture also prevented them from accessing family planning services (Nguyen & Liamputtong, 2007). Even in Australia, a previous study found that discussing sexual topics at home is similarly a challenge for Vietnamese adolescents (Rawson & Liamputtong, 2010). Like the trend seen in Asian American youth, Vietnamese adolescents were thus more willing to receive sexual health-related information from others including friends given that it was culturally appropriate (Rawson & Liamputtong, 2010). These situations may disproportionately impact on receiving accurate SRHrelated information if unmet needs are not sufficiently addressed. Furthermore, barriers around sexual topics that immigrant female youth face should be culturally understood between their host culture and original culture (Rawson & Liamputtong, 2010). The quality of SRH communication would be a further concern among these Vietnamese youth. Because the environment in which adolescents are involved is important, adults' engagement, such as parents, can support their adaptation during adolescence (Carter et al., 2020).

2.4 Parent Child Communication about SRH

2.4.1 Importance and impact of parent-child communications about SRH in general

Generally, familial influence has an impact on SRH among youth. Parents and their children generally have reluctance in talking about sex and they mutually expect to initiate conversation due to intergenerational demographic factors within the U.S. context (Flores, D., & Barroso, J., 2017). More exposure to sexual health information and parent-child communication has been associated with a lower risk of unwanted pregnancy among youth (Brown et al., 2021), and high conversation and low conformity orientation in family communication were related to greater adolescent self-efficacy in sexual health (Hurst et al., 2022). Additionally, parent disapproval of sexual activity and parental connectedness with children positively affects having fewer partners (Cheshire et al., 2019).

2.4.2 Varied effects of parent-child communication across different race/ethnicity groups

The effect of parent-child sexual communication on sexual behavior does not manifest the same way throughout all racial groups. The significant impact of parent-child sexual communication on sexual behavior was identified among Asian youth, but not among White and Black counterparts (Cheshire et al., 2019). On the other hand, mothers' communication with adolescent daughters affected noncoital sexual activity within a White population, whereas it was not applied to Asian counterparts including Vietnamese respondents (Lam et al., 2008). Depending on how to evaluate SRH communication by different races, the impact of actual communication varied.

Even though sexual taboos exist in the Asian culture, considering the interaction between parents and children in Asian cultural settings is similarly necessary and is an important consideration for the context where Asian families are involved. Specifically, Lee et al. (2015) emphasized that the family had a significant association with the establishment of an individual's identity in many Asian cultures. Parental attachment could be a protective factor against risky sexual behaviors (Hahm et al., 2006). For instance, a positive influence on a daughter's decisionmaking regarding sexual health resulted from the attitude of understanding mothers' expectations among Taiwanese Americans (Kao et al., 2007). However, parental influence has not been explored yet specifically among U.S. Vietnamese.

Moreover, the influence of the increased risk of STIs/HIV or being pregnant depended on the parent-child relationship and the amount of knowledge about sexual health those children already have (Lee et al., 2015). Given that daughters have mothers who disapprove of sex and have higher educational attainment, it generally resulted in delaying intercourse (McNeely et al., 2002). As an effect of SRH communication, communicating with daughters normally influenced increased contraceptive use (Commendador, 2010). However, parental influences do not always work positively among Asian families. A previous study also found that mother-daughter communication was not associated with delaying sexual initiation in Asian American families (Kim et al., 2020). Hence, there appears uncertainty about how parent-child communication works among Asian Americans as well as U.S. Vietnamese.

2.4.3 Differences in gender

Commonly, there were different SRH communication patterns between girls' and boys' behaviors. Regarding sexual communication, mothers felt more uncomfortable talking about sexual topics with daughters than with sons (McNeely et al., 2002; Gillmore et al., 2011). Also, there was no major topic that sons receive more than daughters (Kim & Ward, 2007). In terms of discussed contents with Asian American daughters, parents readily talk more about the anatomy, such as menstruation and fertilization rather than sex-related topics, while mothers were more likely to talk about homosexuality and pregnancy to sons (Kim & Ward, 2007). Also, girls were inclined to face challenges to disclose sexual history to their parents (Zhao et al., 2017), which could be due to negative gender roles associated with females' lower position in Asian culture (Lee et al., 2015).

Additionally, the parent's gender also matters in parent-child communication about SRH. Generally, a challenge among fathers to initiate SRH communication with children was revealed, especially when the parents' gender differs from the child's gender (Grossman et al., 2022). However, even if a father was present at home, that did not facilitate a son having conversations among Chinese American families (Gillmore et al., 2011). Also, the amount of information children receive from their parents differs by mothers and fathers because of more limited communication with fathers among Asian American families (Kim & Ward, 2007). To identify the impacts of parent-child sexual risk communication, knowing the family influence and contextual characteristics is also necessary regardless of race (Hutchinson, 2007).

2.5 Acculturation

2.5.1 Introduction about acculturation and how it influences health behaviors

Acculturation is an indispensable factor that affects health and specifically SRH behaviors among immigrant families. Acculturation is commonly evaluated between being involved in original and host cultures, which contains cultural measurements of behavior, identity, and knowledge (Chung et al., 2004; McCullough Cosgrove et al., 2018). Acculturation to the nonoriginal culture related to several perspectives, such as language use and period of residence, are also frequently assessed (Tong, 2013; Kim et al., 2020; Kim & Aronowitz, 2021b). For instance, in one study, the risk of earlier sex initiation was identified only among females who use English at home (Tong, 2013). Hence, multilateral aspects could help us deeply understand acculturation and its impact.

Acculturation may impact overall health outcomes depending on the different degrees of acculturation (Schwartz et al., 2010). Highly acculturated people mean that they are fully assimilated, whereas lower acculturation is related to that they are either isolated or marginalized in the culture they currently belong to (McCullough Cosgrove et al., 2018). A model of two dimensions proposed by Berry emphasized 4 perspectives in acculturation depending on retention or rejection in the native culture and adaptation and rejection in the host culture (Berry & Hou, 2016; Worthy et al., 2020) and it affects well-being depending on how strongly immigrant individuals follow between two cultures (Berry & Hou, 2021). For instance, young females who are more acculturated in American culture were more likely to engage in risky behaviors in sexual health than their less acculturated counterparts (Hahm et al., 2006; Tong, 2013). Whether or not immigrant families follow their heritage cultures also relied on the area of residence and length of residence, and language use associated with the geographic location they

live in (Kim & Aronowitz, 2021b). In another study in Taiwan, Vietnamese immigrant women had lower acculturation levels even moving to Asian countries (Kuo et al., 2013) but the feature of acculturation among Vietnamese immigrants is not clear in the U.S. context.

2.5.2 Acculturation and SRH communication

Acculturation encompasses both positive and negative effects on SRH and parent-child communication. For example, children having parents who are more acculturated could experience sexual communication (Kim & Ward, 2007). Overall, common language use between children and parents prevented barriers to sexual health communication (Kim & Ward, 2007). Specifically for immigrant families, language use is a significant component since children who are unable to share feelings and ideas with their parents easily face hardships through the communication process (Kim & Ward, 2007; Kim & Aronowitz, 2021b). In terms of the risk of sexual behaviors, the different magnitude of acculturation between parents and children would be another constraint to effective communication (Gillmore et al., 2011). The intergenerational impacts on immigrant health should be simultaneously considered (Acevedo-Garcia et al., 2010).

2.5.3 Potential influences of acculturation on Asian American parent-child SRH communication

Living in the U.S. for a longer period and being more exposed to the environment was related to less conservative in sexual norms among Asian Americans (Tong, 2013). However, focusing on only acculturation of the host culture does not always tell us about the whole picture of SRH. For instance, a higher Asian Values Scale (AVS) among Asian American adolescents

including Vietnamese was associated with engaging in dating even without parents' recognition (Lau et al., 2009). Therefore, these adolescents could be likely to be involved in risky behaviors. Understanding both cultural impacts will help us know about how each cultural perspective influences SRH-related attitudes.

Depending on how much they are exposed to American culture, acculturation into American society differs between girls and boys. For example, open communication between a daughter and a mother frequently occurred if Asian American daughters including Vietnamese were not conservative in sexual behaviors (Kim et al., 2020). Also, whether parents are conservative or not, actual parenting and bonds are another perspective that differentiates sexual communication (Kao et al., 2007). Sexual communication that mediated the relationship between acculturation and SRH consequences was considered significant (Kim et al., 2020). Therefore, SRH outcomes/behaviors could be attributable to the impact between acculturation and parentchild communication. The pattern of acculturation among Vietnamese families should be focused on to evaluate how it drives their communication.

2.6 Rationale and identified gaps in scientific literature

According to past studies, there are both positive and negative findings in SRH outcomes or behaviors attributable to acculturation and parent-child communication depending on which culture, who, and what kind of SRH topic is focused on. Regarding acculturation, understanding disparities of sexual attitudes among Vietnamese youth in developed countries, such as the U.S., is critical (Rawson & Liamputtong, 2010). To avoid adverse SRH outcomes and risky sexual behaviors among U.S. Vietnamese youth and meet their needs in learning about SRH, we need to accurately assess the impact of acculturation on SRH communication by accounting for the cultural norms in this context. Also, to address gender gaps in acculturation and SRH communication patterns that were identified in previous studies, this study aimed to focus on the association between acculturation and parent-child SRH communication in both genders of parents and children, by considering multiple demographic features among Vietnamese families in the U.S.

Chapter 3: Methods and Results

3.1 Methods

3.1.1 Sample

This study is a secondary data analysis of a cross-sectional online survey originally designed to assess parent reports of adolescent HPV vaccination status. To recruit participants in the original study, snowball sampling was used through personal networks and contact with community-based and virtual groups serving the U.S. Vietnamese population (Community-Based Organizations (CBOs), Vietnamese Students Associations (VSAs), Facebook groups, and listservs). Participants were eligible if they (1) self-identified as Vietnamese, (2) had lived in the U.S. for at least 12 months, (3) were able to read either Vietnamese or English, and (4) had at least one child living in the household aged 9 to18 at the time of the survey (Vu et al 2022). Only one parent per household was allowed to participate. If a household had more than one eligible child, the questions regarding the oldest child who was between 9 and 18 years old were used.

408 U.S. Vietnamese parents participated in the survey from April to December 2020 (Vu et al 2022). For this study, 408 parents were considered a study sample.

Since there was a lack of studies addressing maternal and paternal influences on sexual health behaviors among children (Commendador, 2010), we included both fathers and mothers in this sample to assess if any differences in sexual health communication exist. Also, different effects of parental interaction were revealed between male and female children. Regarding sexual communication, the unwillingness of talking about sexual topics among parents impacted communication differed by the gender of children (McNeely et al., 2002; Gillmore et al., 2011). Ultimately, 393 samples made up of 326 mothers and 67 fathers for the analysis were included after excluding missing values that are considered to impact internal validity.



Fig.1 The participant diagram for the analytic sample selection

3.1.2 Measurements

Exposures

Acculturation is the exposure of interest. The items of acculturation included: parent's American and Vietnamese acculturation scores using the Asian American Multidimensional Acculturation Scale (AAMAS), parent's length of residence in the U.S.

In terms of AAMAS, the questions for asking about Vietnamese culture were comprised of:

(1) How much do you feel you have in common with Vietnamese people? (2) How much do you interact and associate with Vietnamese people? (3) How much do you identify with Vietnamese culture? (4) How much would you like to interact and associate with Vietnamese people? (5) How proud are you to be a part of Vietnamese culture? (6) How negative do you feel about Vietnamese people? (7) How well do you speak Vietnamese? (8) How well do you understand Vietnamese? (9) How well do you read and write in Vietnamese? (10) How often do you listen to Vietnamese music or look at Vietnamese movies and magazines? (11) How knowledgeable are you about Vietnamese culture and traditions? (12) How knowledgeable are you about Vietnamese culture? (14) How often do you actually eat Vietnamese food? (15) How much do you like Vietnamese food?

Also, AAMAS was assessed by 15 items for each American and Vietnamese acculturation, and all 15 items were grouped into 4 main categories, such as cultural identity, language proficiency, cultural knowledge, and food consumption (Chung et al., 2004; Vu et al., 2021). To differentiate these sub-categories, question (1) through (6) belongs to cultural identity, (7) through (10) belongs to language proficiency, (11) through (13) belongs to cultural knowledge, and (14) and (15) are included for food consumption.

In terms of the internal validity of AAMAS, the coefficient alpha was 0.83, and a 6-point Likert scale (0: Not very much-5: Very much) was applied (Chung et al., 2004). For the sample of 393 participants, the Cronbach coefficient alpha of acculturation of American culture and Vietnamese culture showed 0.82 and 0.77, which were higher than 0.7 and considered reliable tools, respectively. Higher value shows a higher tendency of cultural identity, language proficiency, cultural knowledge, and food consumption based on which country's culture is considered their heritage culture or culture of origin responded to the former question. Also, according to the evidence of reliability and validity in AAMAS's instrument, the scores were assessed by the average rating for each scale in the data analysis (Chung et al., 2004). Therefore, the average value was used in the study.

Additionally, both of acculturation scales are theoretically not considered identical (Gerend et al., 2021), hence, we did not use both acculturation measures interchangeably. Statistically, the variables of acculturation measure also did not show a strong correlation by R=-0.18 and p=0.0003. Hence, these separated measures were simultaneously included into the same model. Also, parent's length of residence in the U.S. was shown by the year. All 3 variables for acculturation measurement were used into the same model due to the variance inflation factors (VIF) lower than 10 for all 7 SRH items and acculturation items ranging from to 1.15-1.44.

Outcome

Outcome measurement is the frequency of communication with children about sexual health-related issues. The Dutch Health Behavior in School-Aged Children and Parent-Teen

Sexual Risk Communication Scale (PTSRC-III) (Hutchinson, 2007) was adapted for the original survey. Parents were asked: "How often have you spoken with your child about each of the following topics?" The topics include 7 categories: (1) Birth control, contraceptives, or condoms, (2) STDs, (3) HIV, (4) Pregnancy, (5) Postponing or resisting pressure to have sex, (6) Being in love and having a romantic relationship, and (7) Physical changes during puberty. Physical activity and nutrition were used for comparison to those 7 SRH categories in a descriptive analysis. Hence, neither topic was included in the primary analysis.

Response options for each item included: "Not at all", "A little bit", "Somewhat often", "Very often", "Extremely often", and "Prefer not to answer". After recoded the "prefer not to answer" as missing, there were 4 missing values in birth control, contraceptives, or condoms, 8 in STDs, 3 in both HIV and pregnancy, 5 in postponing or resisting pressure to have sex, 2 in being in love and having a romantic relationship, 1 in all these three; physical changes during puberty and physical activity, and nutrition. Understanding the pattern of SRH communication is important because of taboos in sexual communication that hinders having conversation with unmarried child in most Asian cultures (Kao et al., 2007; Okazaki, 2002). Ultimately, the outcome measurements were dichotomized into discussion about each topic, such as 'None'=Not talking about each topic, 'Any'=Talking a little bit/ somewhat often/very often/extremely often. Even though the 7 SRH topic items resulted in a high Cronbach's alpha (alpha=0.86), given that SRH is a sensitive topic, this study aimed to assess each topic independently to accurately capture the differences across 7 topic areas.

Covariates

Sociodemographic factors were assessed based on parent's gender, parent's educational attainment, child's age, child's gender, and child's country of birth. For the questions asking

about gender, 'Other' and 'Prefer not to answer' were recoded as missing. For child's gender, parents responded either male, female or other. Parent's highest educational attainment was dichotomized into lower than bachelor's degree or bachelor's degree or more. The place of birth was classified into two categories: outside the U.S. or within the U.S.

3.1.3 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive analyses such as frequencies and percentages or mean and standard deviations were completed for all the variables. Bivariate logistic regression models were generated for the exposure variable and each covariate on SRH communication. Multivariate logistic regression was applied to assess the relationship between acculturation and parent-child communication for each 7 SRH topic, adjusting for all the covariates. Alpha levels were set at 0.05 for all our analyses. Analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Description of the sample

The characteristics of the U.S. Vietnamese parents who have at least one child aged 9 to 18 were shown in Table 1. Most parents in this study were mothers (82.95%), and many had completed more than a bachelor's degree (84.99%). There was no difference in the gender of the children (male: 49.36% and female: 50.64%). The mean age of those children was 13.2 years old, and there was a slight difference in country of birth, between outside the U.S. (51.65%) and U.S. (48.35%).

3.2.2 Description of the outcome and primary predictors

The distribution of acculturation comprised of American acculturation and Vietnamese acculturation and the parent's length of stay in the U.S. and 7 SRH-related topics of parent-child communication as described in Table 1. Overall, acculturation in Vietnamese culture (mean=4.15, SD=0.60) was higher than acculturation in American culture (mean=2.87, SD=0.82). Vietnamese acculturation mean scores ranged from 1.67 to 5.00. The mean value was 4.15 and food consumption was the subcategory with the highest mean value of 4.65 and cultural knowledge was the lowest at 3.90. Parents' American acculturation mean scores ranged from 0.33 to 4.80, the average value was 2.87, language accounted for the highest value of 3.41 across 4 subcategories, whereas food consumption (2.20) was the lowest. The average length of residence in the U.S. for parents was 14.64 years.

For SRH communication, more than half of parents did not discuss postponing or resisting the pressure of having sex (54.20%), and STDs (48.35%) followed next and birth control, contraceptives or condoms (47.58%) among 7 categories. Compared to these three topics, only a minority of them did not converse about physical change during puberty (12.72%) and being in love and having a romantic relationship (22.90%). Additionally, HIV and pregnancy were not talked about by slightly lower than half, 46.56% and 33.59%, respectively. The overall lack of conversation about SRH topics is made starker in comparison to a discussion about more general health topics including physical activity and nutrition which nearly all parents reported having discussed with their children (not shown).

Variables	Unadjusted		
	(Mean/N)	(SD/%)	
Total N=393	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	,,,,,,, _	
Exposure			
Parent's American			
acculturation scores,			
mean (SD) ^a			
[Range:0.33- 4.80]	2.87	0.82	
Cultural identity	2.87	0.80	
Language	3.41	1.13	
Cultural knowledge	2.58	1.10	
Food consumption	2.20	1.20	
Parent's Vietnamese			
acculturation scores,			
mean (SD) ^a			
[Range:1.67-5.00]	4.15	0.60	
Cultural identity	3.96	0.74	
Language	4.38	0.83	
Cultural knowledge	3.90	0.86	
Food consumption	4.65	0.54	
Parent's length of life in			
the U.S., mean (SD)			
[Range:1-60]	14.64	11.63	
Parent's speaking	1.001		
English			
Not at all or a little			
bit or Somewhat well	166	42.24	
Very well or			
Extremely well	227	57.76	
Parent's speaking			
Vietnamese			
Not at all or a little			
bit or Somewhat well	30	7.63	
Very well or			
Extremely well	363	92.37	
Outcome (SRH Topics)			
Birth control,			
contraceptives, or			
condoms			
Not at all	187	47.58	

Table 1. Characteristics of the sampled U.S. Vietnamese parents (N=393).

Any	206	52.42
STDs		
Not at all	190	48.35
Any	203	51.65
HIV		
Not at all	183	46.56
Any	210	53.44
Pregnancy		
Not at all	132	33.59
Any	261	66.41
	201	
Postponing or resisting pressure to have sex		
Not at all	213	54.20
Any	180	45.80
Being in love and having a romantic relationship		
Not at all	90	22.90
Any	303	77.10
Physical changes during puberty		
Not at all	50	12.72
Any	343	87.28
Covariates		
Parent's gender, n (%)		
Male	67	17.05
Female	326	82.95
Parent's highest educational attainment, n (%) ^c		
Lower than Bachelor's degree (High school degree or GED ^d)	59	15.01
Bachelor's degree or higher	334	84.99
Child's age, mean (SD)	12 17	2 92
[Range: Aged 9 to 18]	13.17	2.82

Child's gender, n (%)		
Male	194	49.36
Female	199	50.64
Child's birthplace, n (%)		
Outside the U.S.	203	51.65
United States	190	48.35

^a Parent's American and Vietnamese acculturation scores were measured by the Asian American Multidimensional Acculturation Scale (AAMAS). Acculturation was scored from 0 to 75 and divided by the number 15 items to generate the mean value. Cultural identity, language, cultural knowledge, and food consumption are 4 subcategories of 15 items in AAMAS.

^b Contents of SRH communication included: 1) Birth control, contraceptives, or condoms, 2) STDs, 3) HIV, 4) Pregnancy, 5) Postponing or resisting pressure to have sex, 6) Being in love and having a romantic relationship, and 7) Physical changes during puberty. The frequency of talking each content was classified by 'Not at all' and 'Any'. 'Any' was comprised by: "A little bit", "Somewhat often", "Very often", and "Extremely often".

^c Educational attainment is categorized as two levels: 1) less than bachelor's degree (high school degree or GED or less), 2) bachelor's degree or more.

^d General Education Degree (GED)

The number of missing for SRH communication ranged from 1 to 8, which is less than 2.0% across 7 variables of this outcome measure.

3.2.3 Relationship between acculturation and SRH communication

Both Appendix 1 and Table 2 demonstrate the logistic regression analysis with crude Odds

Ratios (cOR) and adjusted Odds Ratio (aOR) at 95% level of confidence. An adjusted

relationship of acculturation on each SRH communication topic was identified in Table 2.

Covariates considered related to SRH communication included parent's gender, highest

educational attainment, child's age, gender, and birthplace. These characteristics were accounted for by the multivariate logistic regression model.

After accounting for socio-demographic confounders, parents who were more acculturated in U.S. culture were more likely to talk about all the SRH-related topics from an adjusted OR of 1.53 (95%CI 1.06-2.21) for communication about being in love and having a romantic relationship to an adjusted OR of 2.16 (95%CI 1.36-3.45) for discussions about physical changes during puberty (Table 2). On the other hand, Vietnamese acculturation score was not significantly associated with SRH communication in our study once adjusted by all the covariates. Despite the longer length of time in the U.S. being a potent marker for American acculturation, a greater parent's length of life in the U.S. was negatively associated with the discussion about birth control or contraceptives, STDs, HIV, pregnancy, and being in love and having a romantic relationship.

Among the demographic characteristics, mothers were more likely to talk about being in love (aOR 2.32; 95%CI 1.25-4.31), and physical changes during puberty (aOR 3.09; 95%CI 1.47-6.52) compared to fathers. Parents who completed higher than a bachelor's degree were almost twice as likely to talk about pregnancy (aOR 1.99; 95%CI 1.06-3.76) compared to those who did not complete a bachelor's degree with a statistically significant finding.

Throughout all topics, child's age was positively associated with SRH communication. Focusing on the differences in the gender of the children, parents of female children were more likely to have talked about pregnancy (aOR 1.75; 95%CI 1.11-2.75) compared to parents of male counterparts. The child's gender was unrelated to discussion of all other SRH topics. There was not any relationship between child's birthplace and parent-child communication after accounting for all the covariates.
			Adjı	usted Estima	ates ^a		
Variables	Birth control, contracept- ives, or condoms, (N=393)	STDs, (N=393)		Pregnancy,	Postponing or resisting pressure to	having a	
	Any	Any	Any	Any	Any	Any	Any
		aOR [95% CI]		aOR [95% CI]			aOR [95% CI]
Exposure							
Parent's American acculturation scores, mean (SD) ^b							
	1.65 [1.19, 2.29]	1.85 [1.32, 2.57]	2.15 [1.53, 3.04]	1.69 [1.22, 2.35]	1.75 [1.27, 2.42]	1.53 [1.06, 2.21]	2.16 [1.36, 3.45]
Parent's Vietnamese acculturation scores, mean (SD) ^b							
[Range:1.67- 5.00]	0.96 [0.65, 1.42]	1.15 [0.78, 1.70]	1.40 [0.94, 2.09]	1.28 [0.87, 1.87]	0.81 [0.55, 1.18]	0.81 [0.52, 1.26]	0.93 [0.52, 1.65]
		0.96 [0.94,	0.94 [0.91, 0.97]	0.96 [0.94,	0.97 [0.94,		
Covariates							
Parent's gender, n (%)							
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
Female			1.22 [0.67, 2.23]				3.09 [1.47, 6.52]

Table 2 Multivariate Logistic Regression for SRH parent-child communication across seven SRH topics (N=393).

arent's ighest ducational ttainment, n $\%$)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
ttainment, n $\%$)Less than achelor's egree (High chool degree r GED °)Image: Second Sec
%) Less than achelor's egree (High chool degree Ref r GED °) Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref Bachelor's 1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32, 1.37 [0.32, 1.37 [0.31, 1.33 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32, 1.37 [0.31, 1.33 [0.3
Less than achelor's egree (High chool degree r GED °) Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref Bachelor's egree or 1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32,
achelor's egree (High chool degree r GED $^{\circ}$)RefRefRefRefRefRefBachelor's egree or1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32,
egree (High chool degree r GED °) Ref
chool degree Ref Ref <t< td=""></t<>
r GED °) Ref Re
Bachelor's egree or 1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32,
egree or 1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32,
egree or 1.87 [0.96, 1.37 [0.71, 1.53 [0.78, 1.99 [1.06, 1.15 [0.60, 1.76 [0.87, 0.84 [0.32,
Child's age, last [1.25, 1.36 [1.24, 1.37 [1.25, 1.13 [1.04, 1.28 [1.18, 1.27 [1.14, 1.36 [1.19, 1.40]] nean (SD) 1.49 1.48 1.50 1.23 1.40 1.40
Child's
ender, n (%)
Male Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref
0.88 [0.57, 0.82 [0.52, 0.66 [0.42, 1.75 [1.11, 1.04 [0.68, 0.90 [0.54, 1.22 [0.64,
Female [1.37] [1.27] [1.04] [2.75] [1.60] [1.50] [2.32]
Child's
irthplace
Outside the
J.S. Ref Ref Ref Ref Ref
United 0.98 [0.53, 0.87 [0.47, 1.35 [0.73, 0.87 [0.47, 0.84 [0.46, 1.31 [0.66, 1.34 [0.56,
tates $[1.79]$ $[1.59]$ $[2.52]$ $[1.62]$ $[1.53]$ $[2.61]$ $[3.22]$
OR: adjusted Odds Ratio. CI: Confidence Interval.
Adjusted model simultaneously includes all covariables in the regression model.

^a Adjusted model simultaneously includes an covariables in the regression model. ^b Parent's American and Vietnamese acculturation scores were measured by the Asian

American Multidimensional Acculturation Scale (AAMAS). Acculturation was scored from 0 to 75 and divided by the number of 15 items to generate the mean value.

^c General Education Degree (GED)

Chapter 4: Discussion, Limitations & Recommendations, and Conclusions

4.1 Discussion

4.1.1 Acculturation and SRH parent-child communication

The contents discussed by parents normally varied, and that also depends on whom parents are talking to. Based on a study of cervical cancer prevention among Southeast Asian mothers and daughters, mothers and daughters were generally talking about day-to-day activities, foods, and work based on daily concerns (Kue et al., 2021), and anatomy, menstruation and hygiene rather than sex-related topics (Kim, B., & Aronowitz, T., 2021a; Kim & Ward, 2007).

Within SRH topics, physical changes during puberty (87.28%) and being in love and having a romantic relationship (77.10%) were the most discussed topics with some frequency among study participants. The fact that puberty is the most common topic in general conversations with healthcare providers (Sieving et al., 2021), can also lead to more adolescent's familiarity. Additionally, this study also found that talking more about physical activities and nutrition in comparison to SRH-related topics (not shown). Especially in this cultural context, the first thing that is not discussed in the conversation between mothers and daughters is the topic of sexual intercourse (Kue et al., 2021). In common with past studies, postponing or resisting pressure to have sex was the least SRH topic parents did not talk about at all (54.20%), which might be influenced by taboos, especially in most Asian countries (Kim & Wolpin, 2008; Lee et al., 2015; Okazaki, 2002).

Even though limited knowledge and awareness of access to healthcare around STDs (CDC, 2021b; Kao, 2006) and an obstacle in talking about contraceptive methods (Farid et al., 2013)

raised concerns about sexual health in Asian Americans. The finding that STDs and contraception were also topics that are not widely discussed may be a barrier among this sampled population. Additionally, most Asian American adolescents expected to learn about SRH from others but not from parents due to being considered parents' limited knowledge of reproductive health (Zhao et al., 2017), which could also affect the opportunity for parent-child communication. Hence, a lack of information about sex, STIs, and contraception among Asian American adolescents in comparison to their counterparts (Zhao et al., 2017), will be a barrier to prevent adverse sexual health consequences.

Importantly, increased risk of sexual behaviors and negative health consequences, like STDs, HIV, and early pregnancy have been identified among Asian Americans as well as Vietnamese populations (Kao, 2006; Lee et al., 2015). These Asian adolescents are likely to feel uncomfortable and do not receive timely sexual health services due to cultural taboos (Kao, 2006). Asian American youth are not as much as sexually active as other ethnic groups are; however, once getting sexually active, they tended to engage in risky sexual behaviors, such as non-condom use, especially among males (Ansari-Thomas et al., 2020; Tong, 2013). Noticeably, these outcomes associated with sexual behaviors could be preventable by communication (Kim 2020).

To initially understand the impact of acculturation among U.S. Vietnamese families, this study describes an overview of how parents' acculturation is associated with SRH communication with their children. Interestingly, Vietnamese culture was not associated with parent-child communication among these sampled parents even though both sides of cultural impact were considered influential on SRH communication in a previous study. The duration of stay in the U.S. considered more exposure to the mainstream culture did not necessarily affect

more frequent SRH communication. Also, talking about pregnancy could be exceptionally experienced among parents who have daughters or completed higher degree of education among these U.S. Vietnamese families.

In this study, how much parents were acculturated in both American and Vietnamese culture was measured. Parents in this sample were more acculturated in Vietnamese culture than American culture, a finding similar to another prior study that has measured both American and Vietnamese acculturation (Ho & Birman, 2010), also more acculturated in Asian culture among Filipino Americans (Chung et al., 2004). However, the substantial difference in the ratios of parent gender between mothers (82.95%) and fathers (17.05%) may be considered to reflect the degree of acculturation pattern as similarly assumed in a previous study (Ho & Birman, 2010).

As hypothesized, parents who are more acculturated to the U.S. context are also more likely to talk about SRH with their children. In other words, parents were 1.53-2.16 times more likely to discuss all seven SRH topics with their children when they were more acculturated to American culture. However, Vietnamese acculturation was unrelated to SRH communication in this study. This finding is similar to the previous study that more acculturated parents in U.S. culture were considered to share more messages about sexual health, but sex-related topics were limited due to taboos in the Asian context (Kim & Ward, 2007; Trinh & Kim, 2021). Correspondently, discussion on SRH was relatively infrequent (Kue et al., 2021), especially when contrasted to a discussion about non-SRH topics. However, based on the finding, there is a possibility that these parents talk about all SRH topics no matter what sexual health topics once parents become more acculturated into American culture.

In terms of how to measure acculturation, another study showed the impact on communication was based on language use (Kim et al., 2020). This study applied AAMAS which is an indicator comprised of cultural identity, cultural knowledge, and food consumption (Chung et al., 2004). Even though our analyses evaluated by the different measures, American acculturation had a significantly positive effect on overall SRH communication among U.S. Vietnamese parents in our study.

Considering the average age of their children (13.17 years) in our study, which is almost equal to the mean of the length of their parents' stay in the U.S. (14.64 years), most of these children included in this survey had lived most of their lives in the U.S. culture. Generally, the degree of acculturation to the original culture depends on how long they have resided in the United States (Kim & Aronowitz, 2021). Although American acculturation was positively associated with SRH communication with children, the duration of residence in the U.S. may not necessarily be proportional to SRH communication. As our finding, parents who resided in the U.S. for shorter periods of time talked about following SRH topics more frequently, including birth control and contraceptives, STDs, HIV, pregnancy, and being in love and having a romantic relationship, but not for postponing sex and physical changes during puberty. One of the studies stated that Asian women were more accepted by the mainstream culture and more quickly adapt to the new culture than their male counterparts (Tong, 2013). Parents' expectations that encourage a child to be adapted to American values might be another aspect impacting acculturation as a study of first-generation Korean Americans showed (Kim & Wolpin, 2008). Possibly, the geographic location of the higher percentage of Asian Americans more likely influenced them to follow their heritage culture (Kim & Aronowitz, 2021b). Therefore, duration of residence in the U.S. may not necessarily be a direct factor that encourages those parents to talk about SRH with their children because environmental factors might also affect their acculturation in the mainstream culture. Although the statistical impact was relatively small, a

consistent pattern across all the SRH topics in communication was identified in terms of the length of stay in the U.S.

4.1.2 Other demographic characteristics associated with SRH communication

Compared to mothers and fathers in SRH communication, mothers conversed about being in love and having a romantic relationship and physical changes during puberty about 2.3 times and 3.1 times more than fathers, respectively. Mothers' talking about these topics are consistent with the previous studies mentioned above if mothers are specifically talking with daughters, menstruation, fertilization, dating norms, and pregnancy were spoken at least much with both sons and daughters (Kim & Ward, 2007). In this study, most of the topics were more likely to be talked about by mothers. Despite the importance of fathers' SRH communication, talking about sexual health was challenging for male parents (Grossman et al., 2022). Other than these two topics, being in love and having a romantic relationship and physical changes during puberty, there was no other topic significantly associated with the gender of parents.

Additionally, Vietnamese parents' educational attainment was considered lower than other immigrants (Batalova, 2021), nevertheless approximately 85% of parents in this study completed at least a bachelor's degree. Parents who had more than a bachelor's degree were more likely to discuss pregnancy compared to those who did not hold a bachelor's degree. Socioeconomic conditions, such as parents' higher educational attainment related to family stability, influenced the protection of children from risky sexual behavior among Asian American families (Tong, 2013). Moreover, one intervention program for Asian immigrants in northern Taiwan was effective in SRH parental education for children and increased parental knowledge (Lee et al., 2020). Even though school based SRH education and programs were limited in resources and capacity in one studied Vietnamese area (Pham et al., 2012), more exposure to educational opportunities could help parents to understand the importance of parental communication in SRH. These aspects would be one possibility that could contribute to having a conversation about pregnancy to prevent their children from undesirable SRH outcomes.

Also, the child's age was positively associated with parent-child communication across 7 different SRH topics. The older these children were, the more they communicated in common no matter which topic was talked about. Generally, the most discussed topics with providers vary by the age of the child, with more sexual topics being discussed in the older age groups (Sieving et al., 2021). Also, a similar finding was exhibited in another study about U.S. Puerto Rican immigrant families, which showed that parents were more willing to talk with older children about sexual health than with younger ones (Torres et al., 2016). As the age of a child increases, the topics for conversation will change accordingly.

Moreover, parents who have female children were associated with talking about pregnancy in comparison to those whose children are male. Even though girls' limited disclosure about sexual health (Zhao et al., 2017) and gender norms related to female's social status in Asian societies (Lee et al., 2015) exist, Asian American parents pay more attention to social activities to girls than boys (Tong, 2013). On the other hand, a previous study showed that Asian American daughters received more messages related to abstinence prior to marriage than sons (Trinh & Kim, 2021). In this context, it is possible to state that it is more common for parents to talk about abstinence and pregnancy than to talk about contraceptive methods for premarital girls because of the underlined notion of abstinence until marriage. Since there was no significant association between a child's gender and postponing or resisting sex in our study, this is not relevant to the previous finding. Also, mothers were open to talking more about SRH with sons than daughters (McNeely et al., 2002; Gillmore et al., 2011). However, there was a gap regarding pregnancy prevention between girls and boys because of limited knowledge about contraception and a lack of SRH communication among male youth (Vargas et al., 2017). These contextual phenomena can be tied to what topic tends to be discussed and understood by both sons and daughters, which helps identify the difference in needs by the child's sex.

This study was based on a survey asking parents about SRH communication with their children. Understanding actual communication patterns from children's perspectives is also important. There could be a likelihood to impact actual conversation because there is a fact that their children were afraid of talking about these topics in this context (Lee et al., 2015). It is also due to the gaps between parent- and adolescent-perceived importance of talking about SRH topics (Sieving et al., 2021). With regards to acculturation, if acculturation in the mainstream culture was high, Latino caregivers had more adequate knowledge and positive beliefs toward health behaviors for their children no matter how much the magnitude of acculturation in the heritage culture (Gerend et al., 2021). Considering the results obtained in this study, only an aspect of following the original culture does not necessarily prove the acquisition of SRH communication. Acculturation for both original and host cultures could not always be inversely proportional since self-efficacy for health behaviors will be low if both acculturation measures are low (Gerend et al., 2021). In this study, parents were relatively high acculturation in Vietnamese culture compared to American culture. Being more acculturated in American culture is likely to result in more SRH communication with children regardless of what SRH topics are shared.

Because we did not distinguish individuals by several degrees of acculturation and disaggregate subcategories in each culture to assess the frequency of communication, a culturally appropriate approach for parent-child communication should be tailored depending on how much Vietnamese families adapt in the U.S. context. Also, the degree to which children and parents are acculturated to each culture influences their ability to communicate effectively to avoid the risk of adverse consequences in SRH (Gillmore et al., 2011). In sum, the research findings will help to consider culturally competent approaches to close gaps between their needs and barriers in SRH communication that Vietnamese families have faced. It should be a significant perspective to support sexual health education for both Vietnamese parents and children in a future study.

4.2 Limitations

There are some limitations that should be aware of through this study. First, this study used secondary cross-sectional data. A longitudinal study could be considered in the future to understand the causation of the associations between acculturation and parent-child communication, which might help us reflect on changes of acculturation over time that impacts the interaction between parents and their children. Also, the difference in the number of fathers and mothers in this sample may have led to an overestimation of the impact on SRH communication among fathers. The small sample size also limited the variation of Vietnamese families in the U.S. context that can be obtained. Higher educational attainment among those parents might be one of the variables that would impact their awareness of having communication with children against adverse SRH consequences. Also, the educational level was higher than the American community survey data (United States Census Bureau, 2019).

These sampled parents might be biased toward highly educated and the gender of parents, which might potentially affect SRH communication.

Second, it will be necessary to take into account who is focused on. This study assumed that more acculturated parents in the U.S. are likely to converse with their children about SRH; however, this may not be reliable in all U.S. Vietnamese families. Being able to communicate does not necessarily mean that both children and parents have mutual interaction. Because appropriate interaction and openness are important in parent-child sexual communication (Astle et al., 2022), only seeing parents' perceptions of acculturation and the frequency of communication with a child could not account for the actual gap in their sexual communication and actual awareness in SRH. Additionally, this study does not include other social factors associated with acculturation, such as marital status (Berry & Hou, 2016) and the degree to which religion is valued and the influence of neighboring communities. Therefore, it is still not fully understood how further acculturation in the host country affects SRH communication between parents and children.

Third, AAMAS scale does not necessarily indicate the actual identity of the respondents due to the limitation of psychometric measures (Chung et al., 2007). Taboos in Asian culture hinder SRH conversations. While this indicator for acculturation is validated by data from Asian Americans of several nationalities, the scale must be used accurately to capture the characteristics of the targeted individual country (Gillmore et al., 2011). Because we excluded 'Prefer not to answer' from all seven SRH topics, that might exclude essential findings associated with Vietnamese cultural influence among this population. In particular, the six topics except for physical changes are largely related to sexual content considered taboos. Hence, that also makes it challenging to clearly differentiate them from the large category of SRH to assess the exact impact on the frequency of conversation. However, with the assurance that the content is more culturally familiar or accounted as cultural barriers, a detailed categorization would help to identify what limited knowledge and the barrier needed to be more focused.

4.3 Recommendations

To address racial gaps in SRH outcomes, it is critical to identify how SRH communication helps Vietnamese immigrant families avoid any risks in SRH. Including diverse Vietnamese families that can represent the U.S. context is important. Sociodemographic factors that are more influential on acculturation and parent-child bond and connectedness that would impact communication between parents and children are also potential factors to consider. In terms of the wide range of child's ages in this study, different needs by age of children aligned with developmental stages should be focused on to be confident in talking about SRH as well as effective communication (Lee et al., 2020; Sonenstein et al., 1997).

Only either individual influences or family adjustment could not fully contribute to understanding acculturation differences between parents and their children (Ho & Birman, 2010). Considering the actual needs of both children and parents in SRH communication is necessary. It is important to integrate diverse perspectives from two-sided assessments, such as a different frequency and preference of language use that impacted parent-child communication (Batalova, 2021; Kim & Ward, 2007; Kim & Aronowitz, 2021b). For example, parents' higher Vietnamese identity and children's lower Vietnamese identity impacted lower family connection and satisfaction (Ho & Birman, 2010), which might affect the frequency of SRH communication regardless of the topics they are talking about.

Since the child's acculturation was not considered in our study, uncertainty about how the overall acculturation among their children affects communication patterns and their awareness is a concern. However, the difference in communication pattern between parents and children is more complex than what the literature assumes. In fact, it was not always the case that parents were more acculturated to the native culture, and adolescents to the host culture, particularly with respect to the identity dimension of acculturation (Ho & Birman, 2010). Moreover, it would also be possible to evaluate based on how well they adapt to either culture in any degree and how long living in the U.S. by accounting environmental factors these families are exposed to. Notably, the impact of children's communication with their parents is more significant than the interactions with their friends because of conveying more restrictive messages about sexual health (Trinh & Kim, 2021). The degree to which religious ideas are followed and parents' high educational attainment (Kim & Ward, 2007; Tong, 2013), those components will impact the behavior of SRH communication. Therefore, several parents' characteristics should necessarily be understood through the study. To address the hardships in having a conversation that these Vietnamese families faced due to sexual taboos, the finding would help us consider culturally appropriate approaches in the complex environment toward equitable SRH for both male and female adolescents in a future study.

4.4 Conclusions

Overall, sampled U.S. Vietnamese parents talked more about physical change during puberty and being in love and having romantic relationship and less sex-related topics, such as postponing or resisting the pressure of having sex, STDs, and birth control, contraceptives or condoms. Also, parents' average degree of acculturation in the U.S. culture is lower than that in the Vietnamese culture. While taboos around SRH and gender norms in Vietnamese culture exist, these U.S. Vietnamese parents who were more acculturated in American culture were likely to talk about all 7 SRH topics including sex-related topics at some frequency. Hence, this finding further supports our hypothesis. Regarding the duration of residence in the U.S., less time of living in the U.S. resulted in more communication with their children for most of the SRH topics except postponing sex and physical change during puberty. Based on the findings, parents' expectations toward SRH communication and their acculturation in the context might lead to more conversation with their children rather than the duration of their stay in the U.S. Despite taboo in Vietnamese culture, these parents might be more aware of preventing their children from negative SRH, especially pregnancy among daughters, which might also be related to having more conversation compared to those who received less education. Also, this study showed that there were gender differences in discussed SRH topics between parents and their children, which should be comprehended to close the gender gaps.

Their children also struggle with the self-identification between Vietnamese and American cultures (Ho & Birman, 2010). However, diverse contextual factors could mediate SRH communication toward preventive sexual health behaviors among those children, and how likely children engage in each different society would also be influential. Also, parents' lack of knowledge about sexual health was considered a possible impediment to sexual education for their children (Kao, 2006). Family-centered interventions, such as stressing responsibility and providing enough sexual health education, were important since family values were related to adolescents' attitudes and behavior (Commendador, 2010). However, it is not limited to maternal

influences, but father's interaction would also impact sexual health behaviors (Kim & Ward, 2007).

Sociodemographic characteristics should be accounted for in order to understand the influences of acculturation on SRH communication. More clarification on the degree of acculturation in life straddling both cultures is required toward recognizing a clearer pattern of effects on parent-child communication among U.S. Vietnamese families. Other validated measures and different combinations of components related to acculturation, such as area of residence, could lead to different findings. Conceptualizing acculturation as a multifaceted construct that influences SRH is needed in future research. SRH parent-child communication should be complemented by culturally competent healthcare to support SRH of U.S. Vietnamese youth.

Footnote

¹In this thesis, I use U.S. Vietnamese when I am citing Vietnamese Americans.

References

Acevedo-Garcia, D., Bates, L. M., Osypuk, T. L., & McArdle, N. (2010). The effect of immigrant generation and duration on self-rated health among US adults 2003-2007. *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 71(6), 1161–1172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.05.034

- Ahmmad, Z., Wen, M., & Li, K. (2021). Self-rated Health Disparities Among Asian Americans: Mediating Roles of Education Level and Household Income. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 23(3), 583–590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-020-01051-0</u>
- Ansari-Thomas, Z., Desai, S., & Lindberg, L. D. (2020). Sexual activity, contraceptive use and sexual violence among Asian high school students in the United States. *Contraception*, 101(2), 86–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2019.11.001</u>
- Astle, S. M., Jankovich, M. O., Vennum, A., & Rogers, A. A. (2022). Parent-Child Sexual Communication Frequency and Adolescent Disclosure to Mothers About Sexuality: The Moderating Role of Open Communication in a Common Fate Structural Equation Model. *Journal of Sex Research*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2022.2045888</u>
- Aztlan-James, E. A., McLemore, M., & Taylor, D. (2017). Multiple Unintended Pregnancies in U.S. Women: A Systematic Review. Women's Health Issues: Official Publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health, 27(4), 407–413.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2017.02.002

Batalova, J. B. L. H. and J. (2021). Vietnamese Immigrants in the United States. Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved August 14, 2022 from <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/vietnamese-immigrants-united-states</u>

Berry, J. W., & Hou, F. (2016). Immigrant acculturation and wellbeing in Canada. Canadian Psychology / Psychologie Canadienne, 57(4), 254-264. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000064

- Berry, J. W., & Hou, F. (2021). Immigrant acculturation and wellbeing across generations and settlement contexts in Canada. *International Review of Psychiatry (Abingdon, England)*, 33(1–2), 140–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2020.1750801</u>
- Brown, S. A., Turner, R. E., & Christensen, C. (2021). Linking Families and Teens: Randomized Controlled Trial Study of a Family Communication and Sexual Health Education Program for Rural Youth and Their Parents. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 69(3), 398–405.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.020
- Budiman, A., & Ruiz, N. G. (2021). Asian Americans are the fastest-growing racial or ethnic group in the U.S. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved July 29, 2022, from <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/04/09/asian-americans-are-the-fastest-growing-racial-or-ethnic-group-in-the-u-s/</u>
- Carrasquillo, O., Carrasquillo, A. I., & Shea, S. (2000). Health insurance coverage of immigrants living in the United States: differences by citizenship status and country of origin.
 American Journal of Public Health, 90(6), 917–923.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1446276/

- Carreon, D. C., & Baumeister, S. E. (2015). Health Care Access Among Asian American Subgroups: The Role of Residential Segregation. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 17(5), 1451–1457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-014-0065-0</u>
- Carter, R., Blazek, J. L., & Kwesele, C. (2020). Perceptions of pubertal timing relative to peers:
 Comparison targets and social contexts of comparison. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 26(2), 221–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000287</u>

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2021a). About teen pregnancy. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/teenpregnancy/aboutteenpreg.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2021b). Asians / Health Disparities. Retrieved August 14, 2022 from

https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/healthdisparities/asians.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2022). *Volume 27 Number 3 | HIV Surveillance | Reports | Resource Library | HIV/AIDS*. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance/vol-27-no-3/index.html
- Chang, C. D. (2019). Social Determinants of Health and Health Disparities Among Immigrants and their Children. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 49(1), 23–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2018.11.009</u>
- Cheshire, E., Kaestle, C. E., & Miyazaki, Y. (2019). The Influence of Parent and Parent-Adolescent Relationship Characteristics on Sexual Trajectories into Adulthood. *Archives* of Sexual Behavior, 48(3), 893–910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1380-7</u>
- Chin, D., & Kroesen, K. W. (1999). Disclosure of HIV infection among Asian/Pacific Islander American women: Cultural stigma and support. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 5(3), 222–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.5.3.222</u>
- Chung, P. J., Travis, R., Kilpatrick, S. D., Elliott, M. N., Lui, C., Khandwala, S. B., Dancel, T.
 M., Vollandt, L., & Schuster, M. A. (2007). Acculturation and parent-adolescent
 communication about sex in Filipino-American families: a community-based
 participatory research study. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of*

the Society for Adolescent Medicine, *40*(6), 543–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.01.004

- Chung, R. H. G., Kim, B. S. K., & Abreu, J. M. (2004). Asian American multidimensional acculturation scale: development, factor analysis, reliability, and validity. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *10*(1), 66–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.10.1.66</u>
- Commendador, K. A. (2010). Parental Influences on Adolescent Decision Making and Contraceptive Use. *Pediatric Nursing*, 36(3), 147–156, 170. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/577353840/abstract/CCF1BB3F0CBE468DPQ/1</u>
- Farid, H., Siddique, S. M., Bachmann, G., Janevic, T., & Pichika, A. (2013). Practice of and attitudes towards family planning among South Asian American immigrants. *Contraception*, 88(4), 518–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2013.03.011</u>
- Flores, D., & Barroso, J. (2017). 21st Century Parent-Child Sex Communication in the United States: A Process Review. *Journal of sex research*, 54(4-5), 532–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2016.1267693
- Fowler, C. I., Koo, H. P., Richmond, A. D., Creel, D., & Asman, K. (2023). U.S. Women's Knowledge of Reproductive Biology. *Women's Health Issues: Official Publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health*, 33(1), 54–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2022.05.004

Frost, M., Cares, A., Gelman, K., & Beam, R. (2016). Accessing sexual and reproductive health care and information: Perspectives and recommendations from young Asian American

women. Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare: Official Journal of the Swedish Association of Midwives, 10, 9–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2016.09.007</u>

- Gerend, M. A., Stephens, Y. P., Kazmer, M. M., Slate, E. H., & Reyes, E. (2021). Acculturation and Health Beliefs: Interactions Between Host and Heritage Culture Underlie Latina/o Caregivers' Beliefs About HPV Vaccination. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 23(1), 113–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-020-01020-7</u>
- Gillmore, M. R., Chen, A. C.-C., Haas, S. A., Kopak, A. M., & Robillard, A. G. (2011). Do family and parenting factors in adolescence influence condom use in early adulthood in a multiethnic sample of young adults? *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 40(11), 1503–1518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-011-9631-0</u>
- Grossman, J. M., Richer, A. M., Hernandez, B. F., & Markham, C. M. (2022). Moving from Needs Assessment to Intervention: Fathers' Perspectives on Their Needs and Support for Talk with Teens about Sex. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6), 3315. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063315</u>
- Hahm, H. C., Lahiff, M., & Barreto, R. M. (2006). Asian American adolescents' first sexual intercourse: gender and acculturation differences. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 38(1), 28–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1363/psrh.38.028.06</u>
- Hall, K. S., Beauregard, J. L., Rentmeester, S. T., Livingston, M., & Harris, K. M. (2019).
 Adverse life experiences and risk of unintended pregnancy in adolescence and early adulthood: Implications for toxic stress and reproductive health. SSM Population Health, 7, 100344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.100344</u>

- Hamilton, B. E., & Mathews, T. J. (2016). Continued Declines in Teen Births in the United States, 2015. *NCHS Data Brief*, 259, 1–8.
- Ho, J., & Birman, D. (2010). Acculturation gaps in Vietnamese immigrant families: Impact on family relationships. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations: IJIR*, 34(1), 22–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2009.10.002
- Hurst, J. L., Widman, L., Maheux, A. J., Evans-Paulson, R., Brasileiro, J., & Lipsey, N. (2022).
 Parent-child communication and adolescent sexual decision making: An application of family communication patterns theory. *Journal of Family Psychology: JFP: Journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43)*, 36(3), 449–457. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000916
- Hutchinson, M. K. (2007). The Parent-Teen Sexual Risk Communication Scale (PTSRC-III): instrument development and psychometrics. *Nursing Research*, 56(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-200701000-00001</u>
- Jahn, J. L., Bishop, R. A., Tan, A. S. L., & Agénor, M. (2019). Patient-Provider Sexually Transmitted Infection Prevention Communication among Young Adult Sexual Minority Cisgender Women and Nonbinary Assigned Female at Birth Individuals. *Women's Health Issues: Official Publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health*, 29(4), 308–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2019.01.002</u>
- Kao, T.-S. (2006). Ask the expert. Sexual health education disparities in Asian American adolescents. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing: JSPN*, 11(1), 57–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2006.00043.x</u>

- Kao, T.-S. A., Guthrie, B., & Loveland-Cherry, C. (2007). An intergenerational approach to understanding Taiwanese American adolescent girls' and their mothers' perceptions about sexual health. *Journal of Family Nursing*, *13*(3), 312–332.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1074840707303840
- Kim, B., & Aronowitz, T. (2021a). Asian American Women's Recall of Conversations With Their Mothers About Sexual Health: A Secondary Analysis of Qualitative Data. *The Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care : JANAC*, *32*(2), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1097/JNC.00000000000195
- Kim, B., & Aronowitz, T. (2021b). Using Cognitive Interviewing Methodology to Define Acculturation Among Asian American Women. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing: Official Journal of the Transcultural Nursing Society*, 32(4), 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659620932647
- Kim, B., Cai, Y., & Aronowitz, T. (2020). How Do Acculturation, Maternal Connectedness, and Mother-Daughter Sexual Communication Affect Asian American Daughters' Sexual Initiation? *Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal*, 5(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.31372/20200501.1080
- Kim, E., & Wolpin, S. (2008). The Korean American family: adolescents versus parents acculturation to American culture. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, *15*(3), 108–116.
- Kim, J. L., & Ward, L. M. (2007). Silence Speaks Volumes: Parental Sexual Communication Among Asian American Emerging Adults. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 22(1), 3–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558406294916</u>

 Kue, J., Szalacha, L. A., Rechenberg, K., Nolan, T. S., & Menon, U. (2021). Communication Among Southeast Asian Mothers and Daughters About Cervical Cancer Prevention. *Nursing Research*, 70(5S Suppl 1), S73–S83.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.000000000000531

Kuo, S.-F., Chang, W.-Y., Chang, L.-I., Chou, Y.-H., & Chen, C.-M. (2013). The development and psychometric testing of East Asian Acculturation Scale among Asian immigrant women in Taiwan. *Ethnicity & Health*, *18*(1), 18–33.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2012.676632

- Lam, A. G., Russell, S. T., Tan, T. C., & Leong, S. J. (2008). Maternal Predictors of Noncoital Sexual Behavior: Examining a Nationally Representative Sample of Asian and White American Adolescents Who Have Never had Sex. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 37(1), 62–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9223-1</u>
- Lau, M., Markham, C., Lin, H., Flores, G., & Chacko, M. R. (2009). Dating and Sexual Attitudes in Asian-American Adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 24(1), 91–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558408328439
- Lee, P.-I., Lai, H.-R., Lin, P.-C., Kuo, S.-Y., Lin, Y.-K., Chen, S.-R., & Lee, P.-H. (2020). Effects of a parenting sexual education program for immigrant parents: A cluster randomized trial. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *103*(2), 343–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.08.027
- Lee, Y.-M., Florez, E., Tariman, J., McCarter, S., & Riesche, L. (2015). Factors related to sexual behaviors and sexual education programs for Asian-American adolescents. *Applied Nursing Research: ANR*, 28(3), 222–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2015.04.015</u>

- Lefkowitz, E. S., Wesche, R., & Leavitt, C. E. (2018). Never Been Kissed: Correlates of Lifetime Kissing Status in U.S. University Students. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 47(4), 1283–1293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1166-y</u>
- McCullough Cosgrove, J., LeCroy, C. W., Fordney, M., & Voelkel, D. (2018). Considering the Role of Acculturation in Parent-Child Communication About Sexual Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *108*(S1), S13–S14. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304222</u>
- McNeely, C., Shew, M. L., Beuhring, T., Sieving, R., Miller, B. C., & Blum, R. W. (2002).
 Mothers' influence on the timing of first sex among 14- and 15-year-olds. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 31(3), 256–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1054-139x(02)00350-6</u>
- Migration Policy Institute. (2020). Immigrant and Emigrant Populations by Country of Origin and Destination. Retrieved August 16, 2022 from <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/programs/data-hub/charts/immigrant-and-emigrant-populations-country-origin-and-destination</u>
- Nguyen, H. N., & Liamputtong, P. (2007). Sex, love and gender norms: sexual life and experience of a group of young people in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. *Sexual Health*, 4(1), 63–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/sh06023</u>
- Okazaki, S. (2002). Influences of culture on Asian Americans' sexuality. *Journal of Sex Research*, *39*(1), 34–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490209552117</u>
- Pandey, M., Maina, R. G., Amoyaw, J., Li, Y., Kamrul, R., Michaels, C. R., & Maroof, R. (2021). Impacts of English language proficiency on healthcare access, use, and outcomes among

immigrants: a qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 741. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06750-4

- Pham, V., Nguyen, H., Tho, L. H., Minh, T. T., Lerdboon, P., Riel, R., Green, M. S., & Kaljee, L.
 M. (2012). Evaluation of three adolescent sexual health programs in ha noi and khanh hoa province, Vietnam. *AIDS Research and Treatment*, 2012, 986978.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/986978</u>
- Rawson, H. A., & Liamputtong, P. (2010). Culture and sex education: the acquisition of sexual knowledge for a group of Vietnamese Australian young women. *Ethnicity & Health*, *15*(4), 343–364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13557851003728264</u>
- Schwartz, S. J., Unger, J. B., Zamboanga, B. L., & Szapocznik, J. (2010). Rethinking the concept of acculturation: implications for theory and research. *The American Psychologist*, 65(4), 237–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019330</u>
- Sieving, R. E., McRee, A.-L., Mehus, C., Gewirtz O'Brien, J. R., Wang, S., Brar, P., Catallozzi, M., Gorzkowski, J., Grilo, S., Kaseeska, K., Santelli, J., Steiner, R. J., & Klein, J. D. (2021). Sexual and Reproductive Health Discussions During Preventive Visits. *Pediatrics*, 148(2), e2020049411. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-049411
- Sonenstein, F. L., Stewart, K., Lindberg, L. D., Pernas, M., & Williams, S. (1997). Involving Males in Preventing Teen Pregnancy : A Guide for Program Planners. / Fatherhood.gov. <u>https://www.fatherhood.gov/research-and-resources/involving-males-preventing-teen-pregnancy-guide-program-planners</u>
- Spoer, B. R., Juul, F., Hsieh, P. Y., Thorpe, L. E., Gourevitch, M. N., & Yi, S. (2021). Neighborhood-level Asian American Populations, Social Determinants of Health, and

Health Outcomes in 500 US Cities. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *31*(3), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.31.3.433

- Szucs, L. E., Lowry, R., Fasula, A. M., Pampati, S., Copen, C. E., Hussaini, K. S., Kachur, R. E., Koumans, E. H., & Steiner, R. J. (2020). Condom and Contraceptive Use Among Sexually Active High School Students Youth Risk Behavior Survey, United States, 2019. *MMWR Supplements*, 69(1), 11–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.su6901a2</u>
- *The Office of Minority Health.* (2021). *Asian American.* Retrieved July 30, 2022, from https://www.minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=3&lvlid=63
- Tong, Y. (2013). Acculturation, gender disparity, and the sexual behavior of Asian American youth. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50(6), 560–573. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2012.668976
- Torres, M. I., Granberry, P., Person, S., Allison, J., Rosal, M., & Rustan, S. (2016). Influential Factors of Puerto Rican Mother-Child Communication About Sexual Health Topics. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 20(11), 2280–2290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-016-2041-x</u>
- Trinh, S. L., & Kim, J. L. (2021). The correlates of sexual experience and reasons for abstinence among Asian Americans. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 27(1), 82– 94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000350</u>
- United States Census Bureau. (2019). 2019 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates Data Profiles-Census Bureau Table. Retrieved August 17, 2022, from <u>https://data.census.gov/table?q=2019+Vietnamese+&tid=ACSSPP1Y2019.S0201</u>

United States Census Bureau. (2020). Asian and Pacific Islander Population in the United States. Retrieved August 17, 2022, from

https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/2020/demo/aian-population.html

- Vargas, G., Borus, J., & Charlton, B. M. (2017). Teenage pregnancy prevention: the role of young men. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 29(4), 393–398. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.000000000000510
- Vu, M., Bednarczyk, R. A., Escoffery, C., Ta, D., Huynh, V. N., & Berg, C. J. (2022). U.S.
 Vietnamese parents' HPV vaccine decision-making for their adolescents: an exploration of practice-, provider-, and patient-level influences. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 45(2), 197–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-021-00265-3</u>
- Vu, M., Huynh, V. N., Bednarczyk, R. A., Escoffery, C., Ta, D., Nguyen, T. T., & Berg, C. J. (2021). Experience and lessons learned from multi-modal internet-based recruitment of U.S. Vietnamese into research. *PloS One*, *16*(8), e0256074. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256074
- Worthy, L. D., Lavigne, T., & Romero, F. (2020). *Berry's Model of Acculturation*. https://open.maricopa.edu/culturepsychology/chapter/berrys-model-of-acculturation/
- Zhao, J., Lau, M., Vermette, D., Liang, D., & Flores, G. (2017). Communication Between Asian American Adolescents and Health Care Providers About Sexual Activity, Sexually Transmitted Infections, and Pregnancy Prevention. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 32(2), 205–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558416630808</u>

Appendix

Appendix 1 Unadjusted Model for Relationship Between Acculturation and Covariates on SRH Communication (N=393).

			Unadjuste	ed Bivariate	Estimates		
Variables	Birth control, contracept- ives, or condoms, (N=393)	STDs, (N=393)	HIV, (N=393)	Pregnancy, (N=393)		romantic	Physical changes during puberty, (N=393)
	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]	Any cOR [95% CI]
Exposure							
Parent's American acculturation scores, mean (SD) ^a	1.15 [0.90.	1.27 [1.00.	1.32 [1.03.	1.24 [0.96.	1.33 [1.03,	1.07 [0.80.	1.54 [1.08.
4.80] Parent's Vietnamese acculturation scores, mean	1.46]	1.63]	1.69]	1.60]	1.70]	1.42]	2.20]
5.00]	1.20 [0.86, 1.66]	1.29 [0.93, 1.80]	1.61 [1.15, 2.27]	1.41 [0.96, 1.60]	0.91 [0.66, 1.27]	1.08 [0.73, 1.59]	0.93 [0.56, 1.54]
Parent's length of life in the U.S., mean (SD)	0.98 [0.96, 0.99]	- /	0.97 [0.96, 0.99]	0.97 [0.96, 0.99]	0.99 [0.98, 1.01]	0.97 [0.95, 0.99]	1.00 [0.97, 1.02]
Covariates							
Parent's gender, n (%)				-			
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
Female	- /	- /	- /	- /	1.13 [0.67, 1.92]	- /	2.69 [1.39, 5.24]

[0.92,] [1.19,	Ref 1.32 [0.76, 2.30] 1.30 [1.21,	2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	3.52]	2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[0.92,] [1.19,	1.32 [0.76, 2.30]	1.56 [0.89, 2.72]	2.35 [1.34, 4.12]	1.18 [0.67, 2.06]	1.93 [1.06, 3.52]	1.09 [0.48, 2.46]
[1.19,	2.30]	2.72]	4.12]	2.06]	3.52]	2.46]
[1.19,	2.30]	2.72]	4.12]	2.06]	3.52]	2.46]
[1.19,	-		-	-		-
- /	1.30 [1.21,	1 26 [1 17	1 00 11 00			
- /	1.30 [1.21,	1 26 [1 17	1 00 11 00			
- /	,	1.2011.17.	11.08 11.00.	1.25 [1.16.	1.17 [1.07.	1.29 [1.14.]
]	1.41]	1.36]	1.17]	1.35]	1.28]	1.46]
			-		-	-
]	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
[0.59.	0.82 [0.55,	0.68 [0.46,	1.65 [1.08,	1.04 [0.70,	0.98 [0.61,	1.24 [0.68,
- /	- ,	1.02]	2.51]	1.54]	1.56]	2.24]
- 1	-					
]	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref	Ref
[0.32,	0.54 [0.36.	0.57 [0.38.	0.52 [0.34.	0.64 [0.43.	0.54 [0.34.	0.85 [0.47.
		0.86]				1.53]
	[0.59,	Ref [0.32, 0.54 [0.36, 0.80]	[0.59, 0.82 [0.55, 0.68 [0.46, 1.02] 1.22] 1.02] Ref Ref [0.32, 0.54 [0.36, 0.57 [0.38, 0.80] 0.86]	[0.59, 0.82 [0.55, 0.68 [0.46, 1.65 [1.08, 1.02] 1.22] 1.02] 2.51] Ref Ref [0.32, 0.54 [0.36, 0.57 [0.38, 0.52 [0.34, 0.80] 0.86]	[0.59, 0.82 [0.55, 0.68 [0.46, 1.65 [1.08, 1.04 [0.70, 1.22] 1.22] 1.02] 2.51] Ref Ref Ref [0.32, 0.54 [0.36, 0.57 [0.38, 0.52 [0.34, 0.64 [0.43, 0.80] 0.80] 0.80] 0.86] 0.80] 0.95]	[0.59, 0.82 [0.55, 0.68 [0.46, 1.65 [1.08, 1.04 [0.70, 0.98 [0.61, 1.54] 1.22] 1.02] 2.51] 1.54] 1.56]

^a Parent's American and Vietnamese acculturation scores were measured by the Asian American Multidimensional Acculturation Scale (AAMAS). Acculturation was scored from 0 to 75 and divided by the number of 15 items to generate the mean value. ^b General Education Degree (GED)